
 

 

GRAND VALLEY METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 

ADA TOWNSHIP   ALGOMA TOWNSHIP  ALLENDALE TOWNSHIP  ALPINE TOWNSHIP  BELDING  BYRON TOWNSHIP  CALEDONIA CALEDONIA TOWNSHIP  CANNON TOWNSHIP CASCADE TOWNSHIP 
 CEDAR SPRINGS COOPERSVILLE   COURTLAND TOWNSHIP  EAST GRAND RAPIDS  GAINES TOWNSHIP  GEORGETOWN TOWNSHIP  GRAND RAPIDS  GRAND RAPIDS TOWNSHIP  GRANDVILLE  

GREENVILLE  HASTINGS   HUDSONVILLE  IONIA  JAMESTOWN TOWNSHIP  KENT COUNTY  KENTWOOD  LOWELL  LOWELL TOWNSHIP    MIDDLEVILLE  NELSON TOWNSHIP   OTTAWA COUNTY  
 PLAINFIELD TOWNSHIP  ROCKFORD   SAND LAKE    SPARTA   TALLMADGE TOWNSHIP  WALKER  WAYLAND  WYOMING 

678 FRONT AVENUE    SUITE 200    GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49504    PH. 616 77-METRO (776-3876)    FAX 774-9292    WWW.GVMC.ORG 

 
GVMC BOARD MEETING  

AGENDA PACKET 
 

8:30 a.m. 
September 2, 2021 

 

Kent County Commission Chambers 
300 Monroe 

Grand Rapids, MI 
 
 

1. Welcome 
 

2. Roll Call 
 

3. Public Comment 
 

4. Approval of Minutes – Attachment A 
 

5. Oath of Office – Matt McConnon – Courtland Township; Mark Bennett – Tallmadge 
Township;  John Shay – Ottawa County; Al Vanderberg – Kent County; Grace 
Lesperance – Cascade Township; Others – Attachment B 

 
6. REGIS Rebate – Attachment C 

 
7. Public Hearing on FY 2021-22 GVMC Budget   

• Open 
• Close 

 
8. FY 2021-22 GVMC Budget – Attachment D 

 
9. Report from Al Vanderberg and Nominating Committee on Nomination of Officers 

& Executive Committee Members for FY2021-22 – Attachments E, F, G 
 

10. Other 
 

11. Adjourn 



GVMC Board Meeting Minutes 1 

Attachment A 
GRAND VALLEY METRO COUNCIL 

 
Board Meeting 

 
May 6, 2021 

 
8:30 a.m. 

 
Electronic Meeting  

 
VIA Zoom 

 
 

MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mike DeVries called the meeting to order at 8:35 a.m.     
 
Members Present: 
Rick Baker   At-Large Member 
Nora Balgoyen   At-Large Member 
Thad Beard   City of Rockford 
Wayman Britt   Kent County 
Mike Burns   City of Lowell 
Tom Butcher   GVSU 
Dave Datema   Tallmadge Township 
Mike DeVries   Grand Rapids Township 
Rob DeWard   Gaines Township 
Brian Donovan   At-Large Member 
Adam Elenbaas   Allendale Township 
Shay Gallagher   Village of Sparta 
Curtis Holt    City of Wyoming 
Jim Holtvluwer   Ottawa County 
Diane Jones   Kent County 
Doug LaFave   East Grand Rapids 

      Jeff Thornton   Village of Caledonia 
Megan Rydecki   At-Large 
Jonathan Seyferth   City of Coopersville 
Steve Kepley   City of Kentwood 
Ross Leisman   Ada Township 
Greg Madura   Alpine Township 
Brenda McNabb-Stange  City of Hastings 
Jack Poll    City of Wyoming 
Patricia Rayl   Village of Middleville 
Al Vanderberg   Ottawa County 
Cameron VanWyngarden  Plainfield Township 
Mark Washington   City of Grand Rapids 
Patrick Waterman   City of Hudsonville 
Lynee Wells   City of Grand Rapids 
 



GVMC Board Meeting Minutes 2 

 
Members Absent: 
Mandy Bolter   Kent County 
Robyn Britton   Nelson Township 
Gary Carey   City of Walker 
Dan Carlton   Georgetown Township 
Deb Diepenhorst   Cannon Township 
Joshua Eggleston   City of Wayland 
Rachel Gokey   Village of Sand Lake 
Kevin Green   Algoma Township 
Jerry Hale    Lowell Township 
Bryan Harrison   Caledonia Township 
Steve Maas   City of Grandville  
John Niemela   City of Belding 
Amos Tillema   Byron Township  
Mike Womack   City of Cedar Springs 
Laurie Van Haitsma  Jamestown Township 
Mike Verhulst   City of Grand Rapids 
Open    City of Ionia 
Open     City of Greenville 
Open    Courtland 
Open    Cascade Township 
 
 
Others Present: 
John Weiss   Grand Valley Metro Council 
Gayle McCrath   Grand Valley Metro Council 

 Laurel Joseph   Grand Valley Metro Council 
 Jason Moore   Grand Valley Metro Council  

Dennis Kent   MDOT 
Mark Rambo   City of Kentwood 
Megan Rydecki   Consumers Energy 

 Matt McConnon   Courtland Township 
 Wendy Ogilvie   Grand Valley Metro Council 
 Chris Brown   Grand Valley Metro Council 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Voting Tally GVMC Board Meeting May 6, 2021 



GVMC Board Meeting Minutes 3 

   Quorum UPWP 
At-
Large  Audit 

Ada Township Ross Leisman   x x x x 
Algoma Township Kevin Green           
Allendale Township Adam Elenbaas   x x x x 
Alpine Township Greg Madura   x x x x 
At-Large Member Rick Baker   x x x x 
At-Large Member Brian Donovan   x x x x 
At-Large Member Nora Balgoyen   x x x x 
Byron Township Amos Tillema           
Caledonia Charter 
Township Bryan Harrison           
Cannon Township Deb Diepenhorst           
Cascade Township Rob Beahan           
Cedar Springs Mike Womack   x x x x 
City of Belding John Niemela           
City of Coopersville Jonathan Seyferth   x x x x 
City of East Grand Rapids Doug Lafave   x x x x 
City of Grand Rapids Lynee Wells   x x x x 
City of Grand Rapids Mark Washington   x x x x 
City of Grand Rapids Mike Verhulst           
City of Grandville Steve Maas           
City of Greenville John Hoppough   x x x x 

City of Hastings 
Brenda McNabb-
Stange   x x x x 

City of Hudsonville Patrick Waterman   x x x x 
City of Ionia Jason Eppler           
City of Kentwood Steve Kepley   x x x x 
City of Lowell Michael Burns   x x x x 
City of Rockford Thad Beard   x x x x 
City of Walker Gary Cary           
City of Wayland Josh Eggleston           
City of Wyoming Jack Poll   x x x x 
City of Wyoming Curtis Holt         x 
Consumers Energy (At-
Large) Megan Rydecki   x x x x 
Courtland Township Matt McConnon   x x x x 
Gaines Charter Township Rob DeWard   x x x x 
Georgetown Township Dan Carlton           
Grand Rapids Charter 
Township Mike DeVries   x x x x 
GVSU Tom Butcher           
Jamestown Twp Laurie Van Haitsma           
Kent County Diane Jones   x x x x 
Kent County Mandy Bolter           



GVMC Board Meeting Minutes 4 

Kent County Wayman Britt   x x x x 
Lowell Township Jerry Hale           
Nelson township Robyn Britton           
Ottawa County James Holtvluwer   x x x x 
Ottawa County  Al Vanderberg   x x x x 

Plainfield Township 
Cameron 
VanWyngarden   x x x x 

Tallmadge Township Dave Datema   x x x x 
Village of Caledonia Jeff Thornton   x x x x 
Village of Middleville Patti Rayl   x x x x 
Village of Sand Lake Rachel Gokey           
Village of Sparta Shay Gallagher   x x x x 
      Quorum All Yes All Yes All Yes 

 
 
 

2. Roll Call 
 

Quorum Present 
 

 
3. Public Comment 

 
None 
 

 
4. Approval of Minutes  

 
MOTION – To Approve the February 2021 GVMC Board Meeting Minutes.  MOVE – 
Poll.  SUPPORT – Madura.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 

 
5. Transportation 

a. Unified Planning Work Program and Resolution to Approve 
 

John Weiss reported that the UPWP was the climax of all Transportation committee and 
staff work.  This is the first one completed under Laurel Joseph as Director of 
Transportation Planning.  The last four pages of the document list all stakeholders and 
staff involved in the process.  It is a more collaborative process and plan than in the past, 
including nearly 100 stakeholders as well as greatly enhanced public involvement.   
 
Laurel Joseph stated this plan is required every year to document and budget for all 
activities undertaken in the region through GVMC, the Rapid and MDOT.  Both the Policy 
and Tech committees have approved. 

 
All federal requirements are being met and exceeded.  There will be no increase in dues, 
and the department is doing more with less staffing. 

 



GVMC Board Meeting Minutes 5 

Major undertakings include: 
• Transportation Demand Study on a regional level 
• Airport Access Study 
• The pavement management van will be replaced and its technology updated 

 
 

MOTION – To Approve the Resolution to Approve the FY 21/22 UPWP.  MOVE – 
Baker.  SUPPORT – Holtvluwer.  MOTION CARRIED. 

 
 

6. At Large Nominations 
 

Mike DeVries explained that he received four applications for the At-Large position.  
One of the applicants was unqualified.  Of those qualified, he recommended Megan 
Rydecki.  GVMC knows Megan very well as she has served previously on the Board as a 
representative for the City of Wyoming.  She is now with Consumers Energy and is very 
well known in the public and private sectors. 
 
MOTION – To Appoint Megan Rydecki for a 2-Year Term as an At-Large Member.  
MOVE – Vanderberg.  SUPPORT – Madura.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
Mike DeVries administered the Oath of Office to Megan. 
 
Megan Rydecki thanked everyone and said she looks forward to working with everyone 
again and has great respect for this group and what it does. 

 
 

7. Annual Report and Audit 
 

John Weiss reviewed the Annual Report and Audit.  GVMC continues to be in good shape 
financially with a healthy fund balance which includes some carryover funding received 
in the past to be drawn down at a later time, as well as some RPI funding for 
infrastructure projects. 
  
Laurel Joseph (Transportation Planning), Jason Moore (REGIS) and Wendy Ogilvie 
(Environmental Programs) reviewed their department activities.  All are doing well and 
in good financial shape. 
 
MOTION – To Accept the Resolution to Approve the Annual Report and Audit 
Reports.  MOVE – Donovan.  SUPPORT – Vanderberg.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 

 
 

8. Response from Attorney Jim Brown on Bylaws & Articles Question 
 

At the GVMC Board Meeting, the Board instructed the Executive Director to contact 
GVMC attorney Jim Brown to make sure that the Bylaw changes regarding the number 
of required GVMC meetings per year complied with the GVMC Articles of Incorporation. 



GVMC Board Meeting Minutes 6 

 
Mike DeVries reported that Jim Brown responded (document attached to agenda 
packet) and after reviewing all appropriate documents including the GVMC Bylaws, 
Articles of Incorporation and Metropolitan Councils Act, that the action to amend the 
required meeting schedule was legal and effective. 

 
 

9. Other 
John Weiss reviewed information regarding: 
 

• Transportation Surface Priorities 
• Mic News Release 
• Asset Management Champions 
• MiBiz Infrastructure Article 

 
 

10. Adjourn 
 

Meeting was adjourned at 9:25 a.m. 
 

 



OATH OF OFFICE 
                                                                                                                                                             
 
 

Attachment B 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF KENT  ) 
 
 
 

I do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, and the 

Constitution of this State, and that I will faithfully perform the duties of the office of a member 

of the Grand Valley Metropolitan Council, according to the best of my ability, so help me God. 

 

 _______________________________ 

                                                                                             

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on __________________. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Signature 

 

____________________________________       

Title  



GVMC Board 
 

Attachment C 

 

A Resolution to Authorize a Rebate to REGIS Members 

 

Whereas, over the past six years REGIS, an agency of Grand Valley Metro Council has 
undergone a complete and total reorganization. With another hardware and software upgrade 
planned for 2021-22 per the REGIS Capital Improvement and Software Master Plans and  

Whereas, during the reorganization virtually all elements of REGIS including its operations, 
hardware and software, service model, processes, internal staffing organization, customer 
service and relationship to GVMC have been reorganized, and 

Whereas, the results of the reorganization have impacted both revenue and expenses for 
REGIS in a positive manner, and 

Whereas, previously. REGIS members have received rebates of $100,000 in 2017, $150,000 in 
2018, $150,000 in 2019, and $150,000 in 2020.  A total of $550,000 in 4 years.  

Whereas, REGIS has been fully integrated into other GVMC programs allowing for the 
participation and assistance in state-wide and regional initiatives. 

Whereas, on June 30th, 2021, GVMC staff recommended to the REGIS Executive Board of 
Directors a one-time rebate of REGIS Member Dues, and 

Whereas, on July 28th, 2021, the REGIS Board of Directors unanimously approved making that 
recommendation to the GVMC Board of Directors, and 

Now therefore be it resolved that the GVMC Board of Directors authorizes a one-time rebate to 
current REGIS members on this day September 2nd, 2021. 

Be it further resolved that the rebate will be a cumulative $100,000 with each community 
receiving a share equal to the percentage of the total dues, the rebate amounts will be: 

Ada Township      $4,091.65  

Alpine Township      $3,191.68  

Byron Township      $6,498.28  

Cascade Charter Township    $5,554.73  

City of Cedar Springs     $852.86  

City of East Grand Rapids    $3,037.39  

City of Grandville      $4,273.85 

City of Hudsonville      $1,938.67 

City of Kentwood      $12,637.41 

City of Lowell       $1,107.21 



GVMC Board 
 

 

City of Rockford      $1,708.83 

City of Walker      $6,271.39 

City of Wyoming      $18,827.61  

Gaines Charter Township     $6,319.21  

Grand Rapids Charter Township   $5,063.83 

Interurban Transit Partnership (The Rapid) $1,622.45 

KCRC        $6,535.79 

Plainfield Charter Township   $9,279.23 

Sparta Village      $1,187.92  

 

Total Rebate:   $100,000.00 

 

Finally, GVMC and REGIS Board Members are asked to report this decision to their full 
township, city, village, or county board.  

 

 

 

 

___________________________   _________________________ 

Signature       Date 

 



 

 

GRAND VALLEY METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 

ADA TOWNSHIP   ALGOMA TOWNSHIP  ALLENDALE TOWNSHIP  ALPINE TOWNSHIP  BELDING  BYRON TOWNSHIP  CALEDONIA TOWNSHIP  CANNON TOWNSHIP CASCADE TOWNSHIP  CEDAR SPRINGS 

COOPERSVILLE  COURTLAND TOWNSHIP  EAST GRAND RAPIDS  GAINES TOWNSHIP  GEORGETOWN TOWNSHIP  GRAND RAPIDS  GRAND RAPIDS TOWNSHIP  GRANDVILLE  GREENVILLE   HASTINGS 

HUDSONVILLE  IONIA  JAMESTOWN TOWNSHIP  KENT COUNTY  KENTWOOD  LOWELL  LOWELL TOWNSHIP   MIDDLEVILLE  NELSON TOWNSHIP  OTTAWA COUNTY  PLAINFIELD TOWNSHIP  
ROCKFORD  SPARTA    SAND LAKE   TALLMADGE TOWNSHIP  WALKER  WAYLAND  WYOMING 

678 FRONT AVENUE NW   SUITE 200    GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN 49504    PH. 616 77-METRO (776-3876)    FAX 774-9292    WWW.GVMC.ORG 

Attachment D 
Budget Resolution for Fiscal 2021-2022 

 
Whereas, the Grand Valley Metropolitan Council (GVMC) was organized as a Council of Governments 

in 1990; and 

Whereas, GVMC now has 38 members from West Michigan including cities, villages, townships and 
counties; and 

Whereas, the budgetary process at GVMC is highly transparent and began in April and has had 
involvement by approximately 70 members or representatives of GVMC members; and 

Whereas, GVMC has added many new programs and initiatives in the past few years; and 

Whereas, GVMC has completed reorganization of its operations and a fiscal transformation; and 

Whereas, GVMC has reached fiscal sustainability through increased revenue and dramatically reduced 
expenses and through staff reductions, privatization, program expansion, and reorganization we 
are able to adopt this balanced budget, and 

Whereas, GVMC budgets on a functional level not a line item basis; and 

Whereas, The Transportation Policy Committee, REGIS Executive Committee, REGIS Board of 
Directors and GVMC Executive Committee have reviewed and recommend the budget, 

 

Now Therefore be it Resolved, that the Board of Directors of GVMC hereby adopts the Budget for Fiscal 
2021-2022.   

Be It Further Resolved that our functional budgets are as follows: 
 

     Revenue       Expenses 
  General Fund  $2,167,350.00   $2,100,518.00 
 REGIS Fund           $753,812.00   $747,482.25 
 REGIS Capital  $1,000    $150,000 
 Environmental Programs $781,033.76    $768,160.00 
 Infrastructure Asset Mgmt.  $0.00    $350,000 
 
At the Regular Board of Directors Meeting held on September 2, 2021 a motion was made 
by________________ supported by ______________________ to adopt this Budget Resolution for 
Fiscal Year 2021-2022.   The vote was ___________yes to __________ no.  Motion Adopted. 
 
 
 
 
______________________     ______________________ 
Michael DeVries 
Chair, Grand Valley Metropolitan Council   Date 
  



2 
 

TO: Grand Valley Metropolitan Council                                              
 
FROM: John Weiss, Executive Director 
 
DATE:  August 1, 2021 
 
RE: FY 2021-2022 Budget Message and Budget Resolution 
 
Below you will find the details of the FY 2021-2022 Budget for all programs at GVMC.  As in the 
past nine years, there are no dues increases in this budget except for the small equity 
recalculations (parcel count) previously approved by the REGIS and GVMC Board of Directors.  
Because Census Data is not yet available this calculation will be done next year.  Please 
contact me if you have questions or comments. 
 
Most importantly, the Grand Valley Metro Council continues to be in a very strong financial, 
programmatic, and budgetary position.  We continue to be involved in many issues, have 
developed additional collaboration initiatives, and expanded those that already exist.    We are 
continuing to bring in grants, fees for services and non-dues related revenues and have the 
highest level of public awareness and regional and state-wide leadership since our founding in 
1990. Because we have reached fiscal sustainability through increased revenue and 
dramatically reduced expenses through staff reductions, privatization, program expansion, and 
reorganization we are able to present this balanced budget. 
 
Attached for your review and consideration is the GVMC budget for Fiscal Year 2021-2022. The 
budget utilizes revenues from GVMC general fund dues, transportation allocations, and project-
specific grants to fund the activities of the Council’s Strategic Initiatives, Transportation, 
Environmental, Infrastructure Asset Management and REGIS through September 30, 2022. The 
GVMC Budget is adopted at the function level, not on a line-item basis.   
 
The GVMC Executive Committee, and the REGIS Executive Committee and Board have 
reviewed this budget and recommend it.  In addition, the GVMC Board has already adopted the 
Transportation/Unified Work Program at our May 2021 meeting. This approval comprises the 
majority of our General Fund Budget and was recommended by the Transportation and 
Executive Committees prior to our May approval. 
 
This year we are once again using a very transparent approach to our budget with 
approximately 70 of our members actively involved in development process for the budget. We 
have also allowed for one month review and consideration by the Board of Directors.  If you 
have any questions, please feel free to contact me or Chris Brown. 
 
Key Budget Highlights for 2021-2022 
 

• Because of the COVID-19 Pandemic delayed our plans to assist our region’s 
communities in the implementation of Infrastructure Asset Management we will re-
engage our efforts in their infrastructure asset management.  Revenues for this program 
were awarded through our leadership in the 21st Century Infrastructure Pilot in 2018 and 
as the Michigan Infrastructure Council continues its work, this budget item will be used to 
assist local communities to develop or continue or expand their asset management 
Programs. 



3 
 

• GVMC has completed its fiscal transformation, and this is a balanced budget that 
continues expansion of our programs and services to our members. We have achieved 
financial stabilization, budget control, and fiscal sustainability. 

• As our programs continue to grow and we have sought and received substantial non-
dues related revenues through program and service expansion and calculated program 
growth.  Our growth is funded through grants and fees for service. 

• Through collaboration with members, the Transportation Department will be leading two 
regional planning studies in FY2022: a regional transportation demand management 
study and an airport access study. Both were incorporated into the expanded work 
program in a way that will not increase dues.  

• The Transportation Department will develop the next four-year Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP), working with member to program all federal funding 
through 2026.  

• The pavement data collection van will be replaced to incorporate updated technology 
and additional capabilities to provide greater value to our member communities and 
allow for additional contracting opportunities. 

• In 2015 during the REGIS reorganization a complete renovation of the REGIS system 
was completed.  This renovation brought back confidence and stability in the system.  
REGIS has now gone 6 years with no unplanned downtime.  A major goal was also 
achieved to develop a hardware capital improvement plan and software master plan. 
The plans that are reviewed on a yearly basis now call for a hardware upgrade which we 
will begin in the Summer of 2021 with added software upgrades in 2022. 

• REGIS has assisted with creating many different public-facing online GIS applications 
for its members. A few examples are an online resource map for the City of Wyoming 
Veterans Court, an online map showing public Wi-Fi locations created using CARES Act 
funds for the City of Kentwood along with an online Polling / Precinct Location map for 
numerous members. Another very popular online map is the cemetery finder created for 
multiple members that holds data over 20 cemetery locations across Kent County.  This 
site has had 771 site hits this year thru June of 2021 from users across the United 
States. Other similar online maps that display zoning data had 846 site hits from thru 
June of this year. 

• Over the past 5 fiscal years REGIS has rebated to its members a total of $550,000. 
These rebates occurred with no increase in dues and saved each of our members about 
20% of their total dues. We have a resolution on the September 2, 2021, agenda to 
authorize another $100,000 rebate increasing the total to $650,000. 

• In 2017, the REGIS Board of Directors and GVMC Board of Directors implemented an 
equity- based cost structure based on fixed multipliers for population and parcel counts.  
This policy requires recalculations every 2 years for parcels and 10 years (with the 
census) for population. This budget reflects Kent & Ottawa County Equalization Report 
2021 real parcel count data, which is required by the policy. Census data from the 
federal government has been delayed due to COVID19 so the population adjustment will 
occur with the next budget rather than doing a mid-year adjustment. 

• In 2017, GVMC was awarded $8,000,000 in USDA Regional Conservation Partnership 
Program funding to restore habitat as part of the Grand River Restoration project and 
reduce erosion and sedimentation in the upstream watersheds of Indian Mill Creek and 
Rogue River.  We are about halfway through this program and will continue meeting the 
goals of this grant in 2021-2022.   

• Work is continuing on existing grants and several new grants that were awarded to 
GVMC Environmental Programs Department this past year:  

o Updating Buck Creek and Coldwater River watershed management plans 
o Stabilizing Alger Ravine severe erosion and monitoring its success 



4 
 

o Increase tree canopy on multiple school campuses. 
o Providing Rainscaping services to small businesses and neighborhoods 

• We continue to support Grand Rapids Whitewater and the Grand River Restoration 
project by providing project management assistance and applying for and securing grant 
funding. Our contract with GRWW for the 2021-2022 budget year is $16,000.  

• GVMC continues to work with communities through the NPDES Municipal Separate 
Storm Sewer System (MS4) permits. Permits for our 24 entities were all issued by the 
end of fiscal year 2021, with implementation of those permits starting upon issuance. 
Communities will be adopting the Stormwater Ordinance in the 2021-2022 fiscal year.  

• We estimate our environmental educational efforts reached more than the 7,000-goal 
due to the switch to virtual application of lesson plans this past school year.  

This budget reflects the continuing integration of all GVMC programs and operations with 
multiple collaborations, cost sharing and program efforts occurring between departments. This 
has resulted in program expansion and improved operational efficiencies.  
 
The Budget Calendar is as follows:  (Approximately 80 people have been involved in this 
process).  
 
This year the process is changed slightly to allow for concurrent review of the budget by the 
REGIS and GVMC Executive Committees and Boards. 
 

• April 21-Transportation Policy Committee Reviewed the Budget and recommended 
approval by the GVMC Board of Directors. 

• May 6-The Unified Work Program (Transportation Budget) was adopted by the GVMC  
Board 

• June 30-REGIS Executive Committee recommends adoption of the 2021-2022 Budget. 
• July 15-GVMC Executive Committee Reviews and recommends approval. 
• July 28-REGIS Board of Directors reviews the Budget. 
• August 2- After Review by the Executive Committees and Boards, the budget is 

distributed to Board Members and posted on GVMC website. 
• September 2- GVMC Board Meeting with public hearing and adoption of the budget 
• October 1- Beginning of the new fiscal year. 

 
 
What is GVMC? 
The Grand Valley Metro Council (GVMC) is a regional organization dedicated to promoting 
cooperation and coordination among local governments in the West Michigan area.  Created in 
1990, its membership now includes 38 local governments, representing nearly 750,000 people.  
Our mission is to advance the current and future well-being of our metropolitan area by bringing 
together public and private sectors to cooperatively advocate, plan for, and coordinate the 
provision of services and investments which have environmental, economic and social impact.  
 
Included within GVMC are, Administration and Operations and the area Transportation 
Metropolitan Planning Organization with revenues of $2,167,350.00 and operating expenses of   
$2,100,518.00. Our REGIS (Regional Geographic Information System) serves 19 governmental 
units with revenues of $753,812.00 and expenses of $747,482.25.  REGIS also includes a fixed 
savings account of approximately $163,000 for REGIS Capital Equipment. We will utilize 
$150,000 of those funds for the system re-build and software upgrade in this budget.  Finally, 
GVMC Environmental Programs has proposed revenues of $781,033.76 and operating 
expenses of $768,160.00.   
 



5 
 

In 2018, GVMC took the lead role as grant recipient and West Michigan chair the 21st Century 
Infrastructure Pilot.  This pilot includes a 13 county West Michigan area with a population of 
over 1.5 million residents.  The area covers an area of 8,163 square miles (about the size of 
New Jersey).  There are over 130 miles of Lake Michigan Shoreline, and the region extends 75 
miles to the heart of Michigan’s Lower Peninsula. Working in collaboration with southeastern 
Michigan and over 60 communities from our area, the Infrastructure Pilot was hugely 
successful.  Data on 15,000 miles of drinking water lines, 13,500 miles of sewer pipes and 
6,700 storm-water pipes was collected from 163 communities.  
 
To keep this effort moving forward using past grant dollars, GVMC established an Infrastructure 
Asset Management Budget of $350,000 for further data collection and implementation of a 
regional and state-wide asset management program.  The GVMC Executive Director is chair of 
the Michigan Infrastructure Council and one GVMC Board Member serves on the Water Asset 
Management Council.  We have maintained the Infrastructure Asset Management Budget for 
2021-2022 and hope to be able to re-engage our efforts to help local government in asset 
management self-assessment in this year.  In addition, 17 representatives of GVMC 
communities were able to attend the Asset Management Champion Program sponsored by the 
Michigan Infrastructure Council. 
 
What are the major components of GVMC?    
 
TRANSPORTATION 
The Transportation Department is responsible for managing long range, Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan (MTP), the $489 million 2020-2023 Transportation Improvement Program 
and the Annual Transportation Improvement Program for our region. This budget anticipates 
projects that will leverage $13.1 million in local match to obtain $121.2 million in state and 
federal revenues in FY2022. The Department is responsible for administering these programs 
using strict guidelines established by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), and the 
Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). Transportation programs are generally funded 
on an 80/20 basis with the 20% local match being utilized to leverage 80% state and federal 
dollars. The 2021-2022 Unified Planning Work Program Activities and Budget below was 
previously approved by the GVMC Board of Directors on May 6, 2021. 
 
To meet the federal and state requirements of the programs and provide the highest levels of 
coordination, there are six major focus areas for the Transportation Department. Also, I have 
provided the degree at which GVMC leverages local funding to obtain state and federal grants. 
 
1. DATA MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS – GVMC will monitor and analyze area travel 
characteristics and factors affecting travel such as socioeconomic and land use data, 
transportation system data, and environmental issues and concerns. Priorities include data 
collection and analysis, monitoring, and evaluation, including more focus on federal 
performance measures, development of a nonmotorized count database and collection system, 
and continued advancement in GIS capabilities. 
 
 

LOCAL TOTAL 
$52,451 $288,987 

 

2. LONG RANGE PLANNING – GVMC will work on identifying transportation system planning 
tasks related to the development of a sustainable multimodal transportation system. Priorities 



6 
 

include maintaining and updating the travel demand model in preparation for the next update to 
the Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP), maintaining and continuing implementation work 
related to recommendations from the 2045 MTP, identifying long-range needs, developing 
multimodal investment strategies and project prioritization processes, air quality conformity, 
environmental justice, environmental mitigation, consultation, and linking land use decision-
making and transportation planning throughout the region in a more effective way. 
 

LOCAL TOTAL 
$44,452 $244,909 

 

3. SHORT RANGE PLANNING – GVMC will identify transportation system planning tasks 
related to short range transportation systems planning. Priorities include the development of the 
FY2023-2026 Transportation Improvement Program(TIP), maintenance/update of the FY2020-
2023 TIP, providing technical assistance to MPO members, freight planning, safety planning, 
security, public participation, air quality conformity, and managing the Clean Air Action Program. 
 
 

LOCAL TOTAL 
$103,783 $559,783 

 

4. TRANSPORTATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS – GVMC will monitor area travel 
characteristics and factors affecting congestion and pavement conditions. Priorities include 
collecting and analyzing transportation system data, coordinating with MDOT and local 
transportation providers, developing congestion and pavement investment plans, maintenance 
of the congestion management process, continuing development of an asset management 
system, and implementation and monitoring of ITS solutions as a part of operation and 
management requirements.  
 
 

LOCAL TOTAL 
$35,940 $222,016 

 

5. PROGRAM COORDINATION – GVMC will continue to carry out functions required to 
manage the transportation planning process on a continual basis, including program 
administration, development, review, and reporting. Priorities include the UPWP, public 
involvement, environmental justice, environmental mitigation, Title VI, ADA policy, timely 
submittal of documents, MPO scheduled meetings, and coordination with all MPO member 
units. This task will also provide a platform to encourage and support regional cooperation and 
consolidation of regional transportation services.  
 
 

LOCAL TOTAL 
$42,930 $236,529 

 



7 
 

6. SPECIAL PLANNING STUDIES – In response to member community feedback, GVMC 
will lead efforts related to special regional planning studies. Priorities for FY2022 include a 
regional Transportation Demand Management (TDM) study and an Airport Access study. 
  
 

LOCAL TOTAL 
$37,500 $423,208 

 
 
REGIS Regional Geographic Information System 
 
Since 1997, REGIS has been a single centralized GIS department for 19 local governments. 
REGIS operates on annual revenues of $753,812.00 and expenses of $747,482.25 This budget 
anticipates the addition of one additional GIS Analyst in the second quarter 2022 and does not 
replace the REGIS Director position. The REGIS Directors duties have been assumed by the 
GVMC Executive Director. In addition, REGIS has a Capital Fund of approximately $163,000. for 
future equipment needs. We budgeted $150,000 of our Capital Fund to implement our 5-year 
hardware upgrade in FY 20-21 and another $150,000 this budget year for Microsoft Operating 
System updates on the servers. REGIS is one point of service to local governments, the private 
sector, the education community and our citizens. Once again, we are anticipating revenues for 
REGIS beyond the dues structure.  In the past member dues were close to 100% of REGIS 
revenues, that percentage lowers as the REGIS team works as integral part of GVMC and is 
serving as a resource for the State of Michigan in asset management.   
In addition to the significant financial gains and collaborations achieved through the REGIS 
reorganization, operational changes resulted in the establishment of several very active 
committees.  REGIS has a Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Advisory Committee, and 
Technical Committee.  The Technical Committee are a group of higher skilled GIS leaders that 
meet to discuss issues, strategies and system and service enhancements. The Advisory 
Committee is directly involved in operational decisions and service priorities that will improve 
REGIS services at the user level.  Working closely with REGIS staff, the REGIS Board and each-
other, the committees are helping to determine the future operational direction for REGIS.  System 
leadership and direction is directly determined by the members. REGIS now serves in direct 
response to the members and works through the committee system to fulfill the needs of the 
membership. 
REGIS/GVMC has also continued collaboration efforts in GIS on both a region and statewide 
effort. For example, assisting the Michigan Infrastructure Commission with data collection efforts 
for the “Dig Once Portal” as well as leadership on other GIS efforts.  
In July of 2016, the REGIS Board of Directors approved an equity-based dues structure with fixed 
multipliers for all member based on population and parcel count.  This budget continues the 
equity-based system.  In the past four fiscal years REGIS has rebated $550,000 to its 19 member 
communities.  As part of the September 2021 meeting of the GVMC Board of Directors there 
is a resolution approving another $100,000 rebate, increasing the rebate to $650,000 in 5 
years. 
 
Environmental Programs Department 
 
Our goal in creating an Environmental Programs Department was to elevate GVMC and our 
member communities as significant and recognized environmental leaders in our region. Local 
government is responsible for wastewater and stormwater management. Our members are very 



8 
 

much at the forefront of these issues.  As we worked and planned for, we have experienced 
tremendous but focused and managed growth in our programs, influence, and public 
awareness.  GVMC is one of the largest and most influential environmental programs in 
Michigan.  Budgets and revenues are cyclical, and grant driven.  As such, we anticipate 
fluctuations in the program and grant opportunities as priorities change. 
 
LGROW is an agency of GVMC managed through our Environmental Programs Department 
and is dedicated to the preservation, improvement, and monitoring of the Lower Grand River. 
LGROW is an excellent example of cooperation and collaboration in our area, as a broad 
stakeholder organization dedicated to the ongoing health, use, and enjoyment of the Grand 
River. The Lower Grand River Watershed covers 1.8 million acres of property (2,900 square 
miles) and all or portions of 10 counties in West Michigan.  
 
The 23 municipalities in the Lower Grand River Watershed and Grand Valley State University 
(four campuses) are required to have NPDES Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) 
permits. They are working together through LGROW to comply with stormwater discharge 
permits required by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Michigan Department of 
Environment, Great Lakes and Energy. Contracts are in place for GVMC to manage the 
program on behalf of our members into the future. New discharge permits were issued in fiscal 
2020-2021 dramatically increasing our responsibilities in assisting our members to maintain 
compliance with the new regulations. Funding for the Environmental Programs comes as 
earned revenue from fees for the MS4 program, LGROW memberships, and grants. The total 
budget for our Environmental Program is $781,033.76 with expenses $768,160.00. 
 
LGROW’s Annual Grand River Spring Forum saw record attendance even though Covid-19 
forced it to be a virtual seminar. Our leadership and involvement have dramatically raised the 
profile of GVMC as an environmental leader and collaborator while providing additional 
opportunities and services to our members. Our Environmental Programs staff will continue to 
expand our GVMC influence and involvement in a wide variety of programs that impact West 
Michigan’s environment.   

 
 
 
STRATEGIC INITIATIVES and VISION  
 
In the past, the Board of Directors adopted nine Strategic Initiatives in which to focus our efforts 
in collaboration and cooperation.  Those initiatives are: 
 
1.  Managing Emerging Issues 
2.  Encouraging Collaborative Service Sharing 
3.  Coordinating a Region-Wide Training Exchange 
4.  Nurturing a Regional Economic Development Partnership 
5.  Planning for Sustainable Communities 
6.  Regional Leader in Collaboration Efforts-Facilitator 
7.  Communicate/Educate Regarding GVMC and Regions 
8.  Focus on Core Competencies (Transportation, Environment, GIS, Regional Prosperity 

Initiative, Council of Governments) 
9.  Increase Lansing/Washington Connection  
 



9 
 

By focusing our efforts on these nine strategic initiatives, we have made dramatic improvements 
to our communications, involvement, transparency, member participation and influence in each 
of these critical areas.  
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGET AT A GLANCE 
Net Revenue $2,167.350 to expenses of $2,100518.00 equals net income of $66,832.00 
As in the past, this budget is conservative in nature and no contingent funding is included. 
Through conservative budgeting and operational controls GVMC has significantly improved our 
financial stability over the past nine years by leveraging our financial resources and controlling 
costs. This effort has resulted in improved stabilization of our financial resources.  
 
During Fiscal Year 2021-2022 we will continue to privatize finance resulting in a dramatic 
decrease in cost for financial administration. We will continue to share the services of our 
finance director with the Macatawa Area Coordinating Council which is the MPO for the 
Holland/Zeeland area.  This partnership has resulted in a significant reduction in costs for 
GVMC and even more for MDOT and Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 
 
 
 
BUDGET ALIGNS WITH GVMC’S STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
This budget includes sufficient resources to support GVMC’s strategic goals, objectives and 
initiatives for the entire fiscal year and all Transportation, Environmental, REGIS and GVMC 
program needs. Our goal in this budget is to continue to advance the resources, staff skills of 
GVMC and to align our resources with the needs of our members while bringing increased 
value.  This effort will involve continued evaluation and evolution of GVMC and the Executive 
Director and Executive Committee are constantly monitoring our programs. 
 
The budget also supports our on-going collaborative initiatives with the other agencies, the 
Governor’s Office and agencies of state government, Members of Congress, federal agencies, 
the Grand Rapids Area Chamber of Commerce, The Right Place, private business and others.  
We are also working closely with many of our member governments on a wide variety of issues 
involving legislation, taxation and discussions on enhanced cooperation and collaboration. Our 
past leadership of the Regional Prosperity Initiative has also increased our exposure on a 
regional and state-wide level and has brought increased opportunities for GVMC to participate 
on broader regional and state-wide issues.  
 
In addition, through the chairmanship of the Michigan Infrastructure Council, the Executive 
Director has direct contact with infrastructure leaders throughout Michigan in both the public 
sector and private utilities and senior leaders in state government. 
 
 
MONITORING COSTS AND CUTTING EXPENDITURES 
Employee health care costs are projected to rise ten (10) percent. Estimates for our dental 
insurance coverage will not be available at this time, but an increase has been factored into our 
budget.  Due to the nature of our policies and coverage’s available our increase is not 
anticipated beyond ten percent. As in the past, we have been very diligent in working with our 
staff and insurance consultants to hold down employee health care costs. Historically, GVMC’s 
health insurance costs have been held to a minimum because each year, as we prepare the 
next fiscal year budget, we take steps to modify GVMC’s employee health insurance plan to 
control costs.  
 



10 
 

To ensure that we maintain financial health long into the future, we continually work at a staff-
wide level to limit expenditures and reduce costs, while we aggressively pursue new sources of 
grants revenues or fees for services for projects that benefit GVMC.   
 
Additional Sources of Revenue 
In the recent past we have been very successful at increasing revenues through grants and fee 
for service projects. We will continue to pursue all avenues for funding for both foundation 
grants and special projects.  We meet with regularly with representatives of local, state and 
regional foundations, representatives of the Governor’s office and our state legislators, 
institutions of higher education, and other groups to seek funding for on-going regional activities 
that support our strategic goals and initiatives. We are continually searching out, identifying, and 
pursuing grants, gifts, work contracts and other sources of funding that benefit both GVMC and 
our strategic partners.   
 
I hope this information is helpful and informative as you review the GVMC Budget for the 2021-
2022.  If you have any thoughts, comments, questions or suggestions, or if I can be of further 
assistance, you can reach me anytime at 776-7604, or via email at john.weiss@gvmc.org. 

mailto:john.weiss@gvmc.org
mailto:john.weiss@gvmc.org
















Attachment E 
 

Nominating Committee Recommendations 
 
 

  
1. Nominations for 2021-2022 Officers and Executive Committee 

  
GVMC Officers 
Jack Poll                              Chair 
Patrick Waterman            Vice-Chair 
Brian Donovan                  Secretary 
Al Vanderberg                   Treasurer 
  
Executive Committee 
Mike DeVries      
Steve Kepley 
Ross Leisman 
Greg Madura 
Mark Washington 
John Shay - Ottawa County Appointee 
John Weiss 
  
  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
  
Brian Donovan, Megan Rydecki, and Al Vanderberg 



Attachment F 

 
 

Representing Position # Years Participation 

     
Mike DeVries Township–Grand Rapids Chair 4 Years * MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
Jack Poll City - Wyoming Vice Chair 3 Years MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
Brian Donovan At-Large Secretary 3 Years Past Chair of LGROW 

Past Involvement MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
Al Vanderberg Kent County** Treasurer 1 Year MPO, LGROW, NPDES 
     
Steve Kepley City – Kentwood   MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
Patrick Waterman City – Hudsonville   MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
     
Ross Leisman Township – Ada   MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
Greg Madura Township – Alpine   MPO, REGIS, LGROW, NPDES 
     
John Shay Ottawa County**   MPO, LGROW, NPDES 
Mark Washington City of Grand Rapids**   MPO, LGROW, NPDES 
     
John Weiss Executive Director***    

 

* It is preferred that officers serve no more than four consecutive one-year terms in the same position. 

**Traditionally, Kent County, Ottawa County, and the City of Grand Rapids have had an ongoing seat on the Executive Committee 

***Executive Director is Required by Articles of Incorporation 



 

 
Attachment G 

 
 
 

GVMC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 
APPLICATION FORM 

 

 
Applicant’s Name: 

Applicant’s Municipality/Organization: 

Applicant’s Address: 

Applicant’s Phone: 

Applicant’s Email Address: 

 
The Grand Valley Metro Council Executive Committee Membership consists of eleven members who are 
predominantly drawn from the GVMC Board Membership. The Executive Committee consists of the Chair, Vice-
Chair, Secretary and Treasurer. Its membership has traditionally included the Mayor or City Manager of the City of 
Grand Rapids, and the County Administrators of Kent and Ottawa Counties as permanent seats; the GVMC 
Executive Director in a non-voting capacity as a permanent seat, and a balance between city and township 
representation for the seven remaining seats.   
When openings for the seven non-permanent seats occur, applicants are considered by the Executive Committee 
based on the following selection criteria, and are then recommended to the GVMC Board Membership for approval: 

 
Selection Criteria for Appointment to the GVMC Executive Committee 

(circle all that apply to you) 
 

• Government Type Balance: Applicant represents a government type (i.e. small population city, large 
population city, small population township, large population township), that is not currently represented, 
or is under represented by the GVMC Executive Committee). 
 

• MPO Status: Applicant represents a municipality/organization that is an ongoing member of the MPO.  
 

• Geographic Balance: Applicant represents a municipality/organization located in a geographic area that 
is not currently represented, or is under represented by the GVMC Executive Committee). 

 
• Agency Membership: Applicant represents a municipality/organization that has ongoing membership 

status in at least one other GVMC Agency (i.e. LGROW and/or REGIS)).  
 

• Level of Engagement: Applicant has demonstrated a high level of engagement in GVMC activities (e.g. 
regularly attends Board meetings, is active in other GVMC agency functions, etc.). 

 
• Special Talent or Expertise: Applicant possesses unique talent, knowledge or expertise that would add 

value to the makeup of the GVMC Executive Committee (please list any special talents or expertise 
below) 

 
 
 
I hereby certify that the information contained on this form is accurate and complete to the  best of my knowledge. I 
understand that all information disclosed on this form will be available to the public as part of a Freedom of Information 
Act request. 
 
 
 

Applicant Signature Date


	GVMC September 2021 Board Agenda Packet - full
	September 2021 Board Agenda
	5-2021 Board Minutes - Attachment A
	Members Absent:

	oath of office - Attachment B
	A Resolution to Authorize a Rebate to REGIS Members-2021_for GVMC Board - Attachment C
	2021-2022+Budget+Message - Attachment D
	Budget 21.22 - Attachment D
	Nominating Committee Recommendations 2021 - Attachment E
	Nomination Info Exec. Com. 2021.2022 - Attachment F
	GVMC Executive Committee Membership Applciation Form - Attachment G


